# Financing animal health services in some African countries

# LPU Working Paper No. 1



#### Addis Anteneh

July 1983

International Livestock Centre for Africa (ILCA) Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

#### **LPU**

In 1982 the International Livestock Centre for Africa (ILCA) established a Livestock Policy Unit (LPU). The objectives of the LPU are:

- 1. To heighten the awareness in African governments and in other organisations of the importance of livestock policy issues.
- 2. To collate in an easily assimilable form what is already known about policy issues and to present it to policy makers.
- 3. To carry out research of its own (including that commissioned from consultants) on priority livestock policy issues and to present the results to policy makers.
- 4. To encourage others to carry out similar research and to assist in presenting their results to policy makers.

#### **LPU Working Papers**

Staff members and consultants of the LPU write working papers at several stages during their research on a topic. Publication of the final results of research may not occur until several years after the research started. The LPU, therefore, makes its working documents available to anyone requesting them in order to provide access to data and ideas on African livestock policy issues as early as possible to those with a need for them.

This is an LPU working paper. It has not been prepared in accordance with procedures appropriate to formal printed texts, and ILCA accepts no responsibility for errors. Both data and ideas are subject to revision. The views and interpretations in this document are those of the author and should not be attributed to ILCA. ILCA however retains copyright and reserves all other rights.

This electronic document has been scanned using optical character recognition (OCR) software and careful manual recorrection. Even if the quality of digitalisation is high, the FAO declines all responsibility for any discrepancies that may exist between the present document and its original printed version.

#### **Table of Contents**

- 1. Introduction
- 2. The size and composition of the animal health services operating budget
  - 2.1 The evolution of the animal health budget
  - 2.2 Expenditure for animal health services and livestock's role in the economy
  - 2.3 Composition of the animal health budget
- 3. Sources and methods of financing
  - 3.1 The role of external financing
  - 3.2 Livestock related revenue
  - 3.3 Methods and channels of financing
- 4. Some indicators of the adequacy of animal health services
- 5. Conclusion

Annexes

References

# 1. Introduction

Past livestock development projects in sub-Saharan Africa have mostly emphasized the transfer of technology proven successful in commercial ranching operations in the developed market economies and the provision of credit as well as technical assistance to facilitate such a transfer. After long years of somewhat frustrating experience, it has now become increasingly obvious that an adequate understanding and analysis of the economic and social policy issues involved in the livestock sector are as important as technological inputs or credit. The International Livestock Centre for Africa (ILCA) recently established a Livestock Policy Unit to look into some of the policy issues considered important in sub-Saharan Africa. One of these is the financing of livestock services.

The systematic study of the financing of agricultural services is a topic which has largely been neglected in the past, both by African governments and external donors. In the livestock field, the few exceptions which exist have been studies concerning animal health services carried out for some West African countries under French technical cooperation.

Livestock services obviously cover a wider area than just animal health services for which information from the existing literature is more readily available, partly as a result of the historical importance of veterinary services in livestock development in' tropical Africa. ILCA's Livestock Policy Unit, however, intends to study also other services which include animal husbandry, services involving extension and training, as well as marketing, management and research services among others. The general purpose of the study is to examine how such livestock services are financed and the effect that the method of financing has on: the adequacy of the service provided the government's net budgetary burden; the extent to which different classes of livestock owners producers use livestock services; equity issues in the delivery and use of these services; and the economic efficiency of resource allocation.

As a starting point this paper deals with the financing of animal health services and extensively draws on information available in the studies carried out by IEMVT, GTZ and SEDES. The paper is essentially descriptive at this stage mainly due to lack of complete data. It therefore attempts to describe the financing situation in 13 West African countries (mainly Francophone) and to some degree Madagascar. The period covered is mostly the 1970's although data are reported for earlier periods. The analysis toward the end of the paper is only very preliminary and at that further restricted, in several instances, to some six or seven of the fourteen countries. Although the quality of data available for these countries has naturally been a criterion for selecting them, lack of consistency in the information contained in the several sources has at times created considerable problems. One such problem has been that some of the reports tend to treat livestock services as being identical with animal health services while in others the distinction between animal health services and other livestock services is recognized but only partially accounted for in the information presented. The evidence from those countries which make the distinction indicates that the animal health budgets constitute on average over 70% of the livestock services budgets. So in practice I have glossed over the problem for the time being, by treating the data for livestock services as ones also pertaining to animal health services.<sup>1</sup>

1. Readers will note that, except where specific reference has to be made to animal health services, the two terms are interchangeably used.

The animal diseases covered for the purpose of this paper are those which are commonly found in these countries and considered of economic importance mainly in cattle production. They include: rinderpest, contagious bovine pleuropneumonia (CBPP), anthrax, streptrothcicosis botulism (a few countries), pasteurellosis, trypanosomiasis and conditions brought about by internal and external parasites.

The paper mainly concentrates on the recurrent budgetary expenditure allocated by the central government, although some parts deal with investment or capital expenditure in order to show the overall composition of total expenditure. Local or regional allocations (within a country) are only mentioned in relation to the discussion of the method of financing.

# 2. The size and composition of the animal health services operating budget

## 2.1 The evolution of the animal health budget

Much of the information contained in this part of the paper is taken from reports prepared by IEMVT (1980), GTZ and SEDES (1976, 1977), and SEDES (1975). IEMVT covered about 19 countries in West and Central Africa, while the GTZ/SEDES reports covered seven West African (Sahelian) countries. The SEDES (1975) statistical tables cover a total of 24 countries—13 in West, 8 in Central and 3 in Eastern and Southern Africa (Mauritius, Somalia and Madagascar). The data presented in the tables in this paper are the result of a combination of these sources for the 14 countries selected. Where figures for the same year are given in each source, the figures from the more recent reports are taken in the belief that these represent a more reliable basis. Table A in the annex to this paper summarizes the evolution of the animal health budget over 14 years for the 14 countries for which data are readily available from the literature.

It can be seen from that table that funds allocated by most countries to livestock services have generally been increasing in absolute (but current value) terms during the 12–14 years up to 1978/79. The striking exception is the Central African Republic's allocation from 1970/71 onwards which, if the figures are correct, have sharply fallen and have remained well below that of 1970/71.

The share of animal health services in total national budgets for all sectors shows a consistent decline in most cases: This is demonstrated by some of the countries for which data are continuously available over a reasonably long period. In Chad, a major surplus producer, the share of the livestock services in the total national budget has fallen from about 2% in 1965/66 to about 1% in 1975/76. In Upper Volta, Mauritania and Niger, again major surplus producing countries, this share has fallen respectively from 1.4, 2 and 3% in 1965/66 to 0.8, 0.4 and 1% in 1977/78. On the other hand Mali, Senegal and Benin seem to have maintained the share of their budgetary allocations to livestock at more or less the same and relatively high level over the years. The Gambia and Ivory Coast have maintained a stable share but at a relatively lower level.

Table A includes information on the share of livestock services in government budgetary expenditure for agriculture as distinct from total budgetary expenditure for all sectors. On the whole, data for total agricultural expenditure on which the percentage share calculations are based were available only for a few years and for a few countries.

Although absolute allocations to livestock services have continuously increased in all the countries (except Sierra Leone in 78/79) over the different years for which percentage share calculations could be made, no general pattern of relationship can be established between these allocations and their relative share in total agricultural expenditure.

In Chad, the relative share of livestock services in the total agricultural budget declined from 4.7% in 1971/72 to 2.9% in 1973/74 and again rose to 4% in 1975/76. The increased percentage share in 1975/76 resulted from the reduction in the absolute allocation to non-livestock

agricultural services rather than to any dramatic increase in the allocation to livestock services. In Niger, the percentage share by livestock services in total agricultural expenditure declined from 16% in 1975/76 to 7.9% in 1978/79 as a result of a higher rate of growth in the allocation to non-livestock agricultural services than to livestock services. For the Gambia, the figure declined from 11.5% in 1972/73 to 3.2% in 1977/78 for basically the same reason as Niger, although the increase to 5.8% in 1974/75 was due to the absolute reduction in the allocation to the non-livestock agricultural services.

In Upper Volta between 1972/73 and 1977/78, and Sierra Leone between 1973/74 and 1976/77, increases in the relative share of livestock services resulted from the higher rate of growth in the allocation to livestock services while both this and the absolute allocations to non-livestock services continued to grow. For Sierra Leone, the sudden jump in the percentage share by livestock services was a result of the absolute reduction in the allocation to non-livestock agricultural services as was also the case for Cameroon in 1977/78.

One need not over-emphasize the weakness of the data base for drawing meaningful conclusions from the above presentation. On the other hand, the figures may be indicative of the inherent inconsistencies in the budget allocation process which can adversely affect the financing of livestock services in many countries in sub-Saharan Africa. The following section is meant to demonstrate this point further.

#### 2.2 Expenditure for animal health services and livestock's role in the economy

Table B shows the relationship between the contributions the livestock sub-sector makes to agricultural GDP and the central government expenditures allocated, to the sub-sector. Unfortunately the figures shown could only be calculated from data available for 1979 so that any trend which may have emerged in relation to earlier years could not be identified. Nevertheless, it is clear that in many cases the livestock sector is not getting an allocation proportionate to what it contributes to the agricultural sector and the economy as a whole: A simple measure to test this was used for the countries for which all relevant data were available. The measure—the ratio of the percentage share of government agricultural expenditure in agricultural GDP to the percentage share of livestock expenditure in livestock CDP—was calculated and gives the following results:

Upper Volta	1.57
Mauritania	2.84
Niger	3.80
Gambia	4.00
Ivory Coast	0.28
Cameroon	0.74
Sierra Leone	1.29
Togo	4.77

A ratio of one signifies that the level of central government expenditure for livestock services is proportionate to the contribution of livestock to agricultural GDP. A ratio of more than 1 signifies that proportionately less is being allocated to livestock than its contribution to agricultural GDP. It can be seen that except for Sierra Leone and Upper Volta which are the nearest to unity, four out of the eight countries for which data are available spend much less a proportion of agriculture expenditure on livestock than the contribution of livestock to agricultural GDP warrants. Ivory Coast presents an extreme case in the opposite direction. One could already notice from Table J in the annex that Ivory Coast's expenditure per head of cattle on livestock services has been the highest of all countries for which data are available for the three years shown—more than 4 times the next highest country's expenditure level. This may be a reflection of the government's effort to reduce the country's great dependence on foreign supplies of livestock and livestock products. Ivory Coast was the second highest, after Nigeria, net importer of livestock and livestock products in 1960, 1970 and 1980 and the highest per capita net importer in the whole of sub-Saharan Africa in 1980 (ILCA 1983).

Cameroon's case may be more justifiable both in terms of the large livestock population involved and the diversified ecology existing in the country. Cameroon also happened to be one of the few so-called high performers in both livestock and general agricultural production during the last 15–20 years (preliminary indication from a study under preparation in ILCA).

#### 2.3 Composition of the animal health budget

In many cases staff and non-staff costs can be separately distinguished in the overall budget for livestock services. Table C shows the breakdown for the 14 countries and the years for which data are available. It is clear from the table that in most of the countries the share of non-staff costs in the total operating expenditure indicates a declining trend. Madagascar and Sierra Leone are the exception. In Madagascar the share of non-staff expenditure was more or less maintained during the six years reported; in Sierra Leone this share in fact showed a substantial increase. Although non-staff budgetary allocations have in the majority of cases shown an increase in absolute terms<sup>2</sup> during the 13- or 14-year period it is the higher rate of increase of staff budgets that has given rise to this situation. Staff budgets have risen mainly for two, reasons. Firstly, the number of national animal health staff of all categories has considerably increased after independence without a commensurate or proportionate increase in the allocation of the facilities and materials made available for them to work effectively.

2. The sources do not state whether the figures are at current or constant prices but it is assumed that both staff and non-staff expenditures are in current prices.

Secondly, salary increases to animal health staff have further contributed to staff cost increases. One could say that increasing unit costs of materials such as vaccines, drugs and veterinary equipment could have equally contributed to increased non-staff costs. These, however, could be varied by reducing the amount or number to be purchased in order to keep overall budgetary expenditure under restraint. This could hardly be done in the case of staff already trained or in post.

While, the ideal proportion of staff and non-staff expenditure is a subject that needs more investigation, at this stage the more worrisome part is that the share of non-staff expenditure (often referred to in the literature as expenditure for "material") is declining in the majority of the countries. The implications of this in terms of the quality of services provided is rather evident apart from the wastage of expensively trained but underutilized manpower. We will come back to the presentation of the available information in somewhat greater detail later in the paper.

Information on the composition of the animal health budget, as between operational (current) and investment (capital or development) expenditure, is very difficult to obtain. In fact the operational budgets of some of the countries include the investment or capital portion (e.g. Cameroon). The very term investment or capital expenditure needs a clearer definition, because in many cases vehicles are considered as part of the operating budget (in Francophone countries designated as "budgets de fonctionnement"). In one case (Chad) even expenditure for the construction of stock routes (pistes à betail) is considered as part of the operational budget. Data are only available for budgetary expenditures of the six French-speaking Sahelian countries as shown in Table D. Due to lack of adequate data providing separate figures for operational and investment expenditure for most countries, it was unfortunately not possible to provide a broad picture of how operational and investment expenditure by government on livestock services compared to these two categories of government expenditure in the rest of the agricultural sector or in the economy as a whole. We could only calculate some approximate indicator for three of the countries (Mali, Upper Volta and Senegal) using national expenditure data reported by the IMF (1982). Using simple annual averages from the data in Table D and IMF (1982) budgetary expenditure figures for 1975 or 1976 as a base it was possible to calculate that the percentage shares of operational and investment expenditure by livestock services in total national operational (current) and investment (capital) expenditure were as follows.<sup>3</sup>

Mali OE Livestock (L) 
$$= 0.4\%$$
 CE  $\frac{L}{CE} = 0.1\%$ 
Upper Volta OE  $\frac{DE}{T}$   $= 1.6\%$   $\frac{CE_{L}}{CE_{T}} = 0.6\%$ 
Senegal OE  $\frac{DE_{L}}{DE_{T}}$   $= 0.8\%$   $\frac{CE_{L}}{CE_{L}} = 0.1\%$ 
OE = Operating Expenditure CE = Capital Expenditure

3. The national budget figures in Table A, which were used as a basis for calculating livestock expenditure as a proportion of the total national budget, *excluded* external aid and capital expenditure. However, the calculations given here are based on agricultural budgets which *include* external aid and capital expenditure.

The above could only be taken as a further demonstration of the inadequate attention that is being given to livestock development, particularly in the case of Mali and Upper Volta where livestock contributes over 10% of the total GDP.

# 3. Sources and methods of financing

### 3.1 The role of external financing

Again there is information only for the six Francophone Sahelian countries and only for four or five years up to 1975. As can be calculated from Table D the share of external financing in total expenditure is quite high. Table 1 below provides data for some individual countries.

**Table 1**. Share of external aid in total operating and investment expenditure (1971–1975).

	Share	Share (%) of external aid in						
Country	total expenditure	operating expense	investment					
Chad	67	64	100					
Mali	48	47	100					
Upper Volta	28	27	100					
Mauritania	35	27	93					
Niger	18	17	25					
Senegal	7	8	0					

Source: calculated from Table D in annex.

In Chad, Mali and Upper Volta investment expenditure for animal health services is totally dependent on external sources. For Niger, this share is relatively low. In Senegal, external aid was either not available or was not used for investment purposes, if the data in Table D give the correct picture. In Senegal, the growth rate of budgetary allocations for livestock services has in general kept pace with the growth rate of the total operating budget from domestic sources.

It is perhaps not surprising that investment expenditure was so much dependent on external sources since much of the fixed capital items required the outlay of scarce foreign exchange which foreign donors could provide. Moreover, donors usually prefer to finance investment expenditure for several reasons which need not be elaborated here. The surprising thing is that the operating budget depended on outside financing to the extent it did particularly in Chad. It is again unfortunate that yearly figures are not available to show if the share of external financing has been increasing or decreasing during the period covered, but it would be interesting to find out how such countries cope with financing operating costs after external aid phases out.<sup>4</sup>

4. M. Sall (personal communication July 1983) categorically states that they do not do anything apart from asking another donor to take over.

Apart from personnel costs, much of the operating expenditure in animal health services consists of the purchase and distribution costs of vaccines, drugs and acaricides and the running and maintenance costs of vehicles, veterinary equipment and fixed capital items such as buildings. Senegal, Chad, Niger and Mali produce vaccines required for many of the contagious animal

diseases. In fact Senegal and Chad export considerable quantities of vaccines to neighbouring countries (IEMVT 1980) while Niger and Mali are reported to produce enough vaccine for their own needs in treating or immunizing the more important economic diseases such as rinderpest and CBPP. Veterinary drugs and chemicals as well as fuel and maintenance items for vehicles normally have to be imported. Assuming that external financing is directly related to the requirement of foreign currency to purchase these items, then the share of external financing in the operating expenditure of animal health services ought to bear some relationship to the required expenditure on these items. The absence of information providing an itemized breakdown of the "materials" portion of the operating expenditure does not allow an exploration of what the relationship should look like in the different countries. However, using budget data developed by Nico Nissen (1982) for the provision of government veterinary services, there is an indication that for Chad, which produces vaccines locally and is assumed therefore not to need to import, the actual share of external financing is higher than the requirements of foreign currency to purchase important items. Nissen's data were developed on the assumption that vaccines and vaccinations are free, drugs have to be paid for by livestock owners and both are applied by government veterinary services and on more or less ideal standards of staffing. Let us further assume that vaccines need not be imported and paid for in foreign currency by countries that produce these (Senegal, Chad, Mali and Niger); that all drugs and chemicals are imported, and that operating costs for transportation, storage and distribution have a 75% foreign exchange component. On this basis, the share of external financing in total operating expenditure should be only 51% instead of 64% in the case of Chad, and 37% instead of 8%, 56% instead of 48%, and 49% instead of 17% in the case of Senegal, Mali and Niger respectively.

The assumption that external funds are provided to finance only foreign exchange needs in livestock services may appear a rather unrealistic assumption. However, historically external aid for development had most often been directly related to meeting foreign currency shortages faced by recipient countries. This said, could not one conclude that Chad's "domestic effort" in financing the recurrent expenditure portion of livestock services is less than the rest? At this point, it may be interesting to note that Chad has registered the weakest annual growth rate in its domestic livestock services budget during the 1961/62 - 1975/76 period (2.6%), while Senegal registered the highest rate (8.9% per year on average). Niger's and Mali's livestock services budget grew at 5.2 and 4.7% respectively (Nissen 1982).

Most indications are that the financing of animal health services in most countries has not reached a level appropriate to the need of adequate protection of the livestock population from the most important economic diseases. Several factors could explain this situation. One may be the low priority which has been given to livestock in development policy despite its significant contribution to the economy and despite the fact that in many African countries veterinary services not only comprise the single most important service package provided for livestock development but also have a relatively good record, at least in comparison with other livestock and agricultural services, for effectiveness. Another factor could be the absolute or relative inability for countries to mobilize resources and maintain an adequate level of financing to provide adequate animal health services even if the political will to do this were there. Still another could be the way in which they raise and utilize financial resources from domestic sources. The next section will try to deal with this aspect however qualitative the discussion is bound to be due to lack of quantitative data.

#### 3.2 Livestock related revenue

In many African countries taxes on cattle used to be the major source of revenue collected from pastoral herders. Cattle head taxes have now been suspended or abolished in several countries in Africa either because of practical administrative difficulties and irregularities in their collection or because they became counterproductive in the governments' efforts to census the animal resource: For example in Nigeria the "jangali" tax which existed from the early 19th century was abolished in 1975, and in Madagascar the cattle head tax was abolished in 1972. In most Sahelian countries the cattle head tax was either suspended or abolished to reprieve herders from the hardship brought about by the drought of the early 1970's. In many cases these taxes were in existence from pre-colonial times although they were legalized during the colonial period.

In more recent times a wide variety of duties, taxes, fees and charges have been applied in most countries possibly in part as a response to the increased livestock services being provided by veterinary or animal production departments. Table E shows the type of duties taxes, fees and charges applicable to livestock and livestock products in the 13 West African countries and Madagascar in the 1970's. Partly due to lack of time, at this stage of the exercise it was not possible to quantify, on the basis of the rates available, the total amounts which are raised or could potentially be raised from the duties, taxes and charges levied by the different countries. The purpose of Table E is to give a qualitative indication of what means are available and used by governments to raise funds for financing livestock services. User charges directly related to animal health services (vaccination, treatment, meat inspection, veterinary certificate charges and fees) are obviously the least popular methods judging by the number of countries applying them. This could be because of the administrative and even political difficulties which arise from levying and collecting these charges or because of the cost of doing so.

The most popular appear to be external and internal trade taxes and charges as well as slaughtering fees perhaps because they are easier to administer (despite the disadvantage that taxes on, livestock export trade and slaughtering fees encourage black market transactions and unofficial slaughter respectively) and less politically sensitive (because they do not directly confront livestock owners). It is perhaps partly because of this indirect relationship to the final beneficiaries of livestock services, that trade taxes and slaughtering fees have very little chance of being recirculated to finance livestock services but normally enter general purpose central treasury or municipal accounts. Claims that user charges should be earmarked and recirculated to livestock services have a stronger basis, although in practice this often does not happen, particularly in the case of vaccination charges, among the countries considered. Cattle head taxes (usually levied on pastoralists) could be considered to fall in between the two: they are both part of the general government revenue raising effort to which livestock owners/producers are expected to contribute as well as a specific charge for raising funds to provide services particular to this sector of the population. It has sometimes been argued that head taxes should not be charged where animal health services are paid for (Nissen, 1982). However, in most cases user charges are subsidized and do not cover the full direct cost of providing services—it is perhaps because, of this that some countries still maintain head taxes while charging for veterinary services.

Although the revenue figures that could be potentially raised were not calculated from duty, tax and charge rates available, there are some indications of how much revenue some of the countries considered here raise from livestock and livestock products. The figures in Table 2 below are reported in the IMF (1982) yearbook for 5 of the 14 countries.

It is interesting to note that in Mali livestock head tax receipts alone are many times the operating budget allocated to livestock services.<sup>5</sup>

5. According to Shapiro (1979) in Mali and Upper Volta 10 percent of the predrought tax revenues came from livestock but only 2 to 3 percent of budget expenditures were allocated to livestock.

From the figure for 1975 in Table 2 and Table A in the annex it can be shown that the livestock head tax revenue was over five times the livestock services budget allocation. From figures available in SEDES (1975) a sum of CFA 1,400 million could have been theoretically collected in 1972 while the livestock services budget was only 11% of this figure. Using SEDES figures along the same lines, one can calculate that the livestock budget in the Gambia was equivalent to only 1.2% of the potential receipts from livestock head taxes (1970); in Chad the 1974 livestock services budget accounted for 20%; and in Mauritania 25% (1973). In Upper Volta (1974), Cameroon (1970) and Senegal (1970) potential livestock head tax receipts amounted to 90, 75 and 60% of their respective livestock services budget.

**Table 2.** Livestock related revenue.

	1972	1973	1974	1975	1976	1977	1978	1979
1. Chad (mill CFA)								
meat control tax	18	9	95	14	4	NA <sup>1</sup>	NA	NA
livestock sales	135	38	37	63	1	NA	NA	NA
Total	153	47	132	77	5			
2. Mali (mill CFA)	II.							
livestock head tax	NA	NA	NA	929	961	987	964	1060
slaughter fee				6	5	6	8	7
tax on nomads	NA	NA	NA	1	2	1	6	3
Total				936	668	994	978	1070
3. Upper Volta (mill C	CFA)		1		1	I		1
livestock head tax	NA	44	40	51	55	50	44	47
transit tax	NA	16	13	4	NA	NA	NA	2

Total		60	53	55	55	50	44	49
4. Gambia (000 Dalasi)		'				'		'
livestock head tax <sup>2</sup>	10	10	10	10	NA	53	89	NA
Total	10	10	10	10	NA	53	89	NA
5. Senegal (mill CFA)								
livestock head tax	NA	167	NA	3	NA	NA	NA	NA
tax on edible fats	NA	134	NA	124	126	191	208	224
Total		301	NA	127	126	191	208	224
6. Cameroon (mill CFA)						'		'
livestock head tax	NA	NA	NA	100	10	NA	NA	NA
tax on meat transport	NA	NA	NA	NA	10	NA	NA	NA
Vet health inspection tax	NA	NA	NA	60	250	60	170	80
Total	NA	NA	NA	160	270	60	170	80

Source IMF (1982).

- 1. NA = Not available.
- 2. Only central government's share of total receipts; percentage share not stated.

We are not trying to make the point that all receipts from livestock related duties, taxes and charges should be channeled to financing livestock services including animal health, or even that 100% collection is feasible on the basis of the rates established. The point we are trying to make is that there is a great leeway for governments to raise larger amounts to help operate improved livestock services, especially in those countries where the sector plays an important role in the economy. In the first instance, this of course implies that such countries undertake to accord the priority to livestock development which it deserves.

#### 3.3 Methods and channels of financing

In many African countries, mass vaccinations against the principal contagious diseases such as Rinderpest and CBPP are provided free of charge. Anti-parasitic treatments are usually charged (not necessarily at full cost) to livestock owners after an initial phase of demonstration campaigns. The practice. in the 13 African countries considered here (no information for Madagascar) gives the following picture. In six countries (Benin, Cameroon, Gambia, Ivory Coast, Mauritania and Togo) all vaccinations and treatments were provided free of charge at least as of 1976 (Nissen 1982). In Cameroon and Ivory Coast free services are specified only for the traditional livestock production sector (GTZ/SEDES 1976). In the Central African Republic, Chad, Mali, Niger and Sierra Leone all vaccinations were free of charge while treatments are paid for; in Senegal all vaccinations and treatments are paid for except for vaccinations against

Rinderpest and CBPP, whereas in Upper Volta all animal health interventions are paid for (Nissen 1982).

The provisions of animal health services is normally the monopoly of government agriculture or livestock departments. There is no indication in the literature that private veterinary practice exists although there are bound to be some non-governmental organizations providing animal health services as part of their agricultural development assistance activity: Private services, where they exist, are usually involved only in the procurement, sale and/or distribution of veterinary medicine. However, the role of the private sector at present appears to be minimal in most of Africa although certain governments (e.g. Senegal) have started to encourage private business to enter the trade.

We have more definitive information on the five Francophone Sahelian countries on how finance for livestock services is channeled. The picture looks like this (GTZ/SEDES 1976):

*Mali:* in addition to the central government budget for livestock and animal health services, there are regional (local) government budgets funded through taxes raised at the local level<sup>6</sup> and through service charges. In 1975 about 20% of the animal health budge was financed from regional budgets.

6. Local taxes funded 90% of the local expenditure while services, charges, fees etc. funded the remaining 10%.

*Upper Volta:* a similar set up as in Mali with the regional budgets, again mainly raised from local tares, financing 3% of the total domestically financed livestock services budget and about 30% of the (domestically financed) animal health budget. The Livestock Services Department has at its disposal a revolving fund for the supply of biological products and veterinary drugs.

*Mauritania*: it seems that 100% of the livestock services budget is channeled through the central treasury. What is interesting here as in Upper Volta is that a special fund was set up for the purchase of veterinary medicine to be distributed to the regions initially in kind. The proceeds from the sale of the commodities were supposed to be used to establish a revolving fund to be used exclusively for livestock services.

*Niger:* in addition to the national budget, funds are raised by regions from local taxes ("taxes d'arrondissement" constituting 80%). In 1975, regional budgets constituted about 5% of the total internally funded expenditure on livestock services.

*Senegal:* essentially similar to Niger with regionally raised funds (mainly from "taxes rurales") making 3–4% of total budgetary expenditure for livestock services in 1975.

In all the above countries, the amounts made available to livestock services or animal health services are apparently allocated by the regional administrations from a larger locally financed regional budget.

In Chad, it seems that allocations are totally made by the central government from funds raised by the national authorities. In the Gambia, it is reported that small subventions are made from local councils to finance expenditure for animal health services. Funds are principally raised by means of a cattle head tax levied annually, and are used by the Department of Animal Health and Production to purchase veterinary supplies for use in each local council area (IEMVT 1980). There is unfortunately no quantified information on this to compare with the national or regional livestock or animal health services budgets. In Sierra Leone available budgetary data (IEMVT 1980) indicate the establishment of a revolving fund for sale of medicines to farmers (30,000 Leone per year).

The GTZ/SEDES report (1976) states that livestock head taxes have been cancelled in Chad, Mali, Niger and Senegal since 1973; the SEDES report (1975) makes no mention of such cancellation, although it mentions that it was suspended in some countries for a number of years because of the drought.

These cancellations have apparently not adversely affected the size of the animal health or the livestock services budget in absolute terms (at current prices). On the other hand, they seem to have negatively affected the share of the livestock budget in the national budget probably because, as indicated earlier, the livestock services budgets are in an even weaker position to have claims on funds raised from charges on activities such as cattle trade and slaughtering not directly carried out by livestock producers. There is an indication that the decline of the share of livestock services is sharper for the years after 1973 at least in the case of Mali, Niger and Senegal, although it is uncertain that this is an effect of the change in fiscal policy.

# 4. Some indicators of the adequacy of animal health services

The adequacy of services could be measured by several means. Here we used the following as indicators:

- the number of technical staff of different categories available to animal health services in different years.
- the number of animals (only cattle for simplicity's sake) served per staff category.
- the recurrent budget allocation/expenditure per head of cattle population.
- the ratio of expenditure on personnel and non-personnel costs to measure the so-called coefficient of efficiency.

Obviously we need some standard or norm against which to measure the adequacy of the services provided. Fortunately a set of standards have been developed by the GTZ/SEDES (1977) group to make calculations of the technical manpower and financial requirements as well as the number and type of veterinary centers required for adequate animal health services. In brief, the following standards have been used:

a. As far as staff is concerned the relationships between high (HL), medium (ML) and low level (LL) staff should be:

$$\frac{ML}{HL} = 3; \quad \frac{LL}{HL} = 15; \quad \frac{LL}{ML} = 5.$$

- b. financial norms were established taking (a) above into account and further assuming that 100% of the animals are vaccinated against rinderpest and CBPP and that treatments are paid for and administered by livestock owners/producers.
- 4.1 Table F in the annex shows the situation as regards the different categories of staff numbers existing in 1970, 1975 and 1979 and the ratios of middle level (ML) to high level (HL) and that of low level (LL) to middle level staff. It can be seen that the total number of staff increased in 7 out of the 11 countries shown. The number of high level staff increased in nine countries including the seven referred to above while the number of middle level staff increased in all countries.

With the exception of Togo, Niger and CAR where particularly in the last two the ML:HL ratio was excessively high to start with because of the low number of high level staff, this ratio increased or remained at about the same level in the remaining 8 countries. Of these 8 countries, the ML:HL ratio in Upper Volta increased mainly because the number of high level staff declined while in Mauritania it was a result of a decrease in the number of high level staff at the same time as the number of middle level staff increased substantially.

In the case of low level staff, it is only in 5 countries (Mali, Niger, Ivory Coast, Benin and CAR) that. their numbers have increased between 1970 and 1979 and these are the only countries in which the number of all categories of staff showed an increase. In the remaining six countries, the number of low level staff decreased.

Except for Ivory Coast and CAR, the LL:ML ratio decreased for all the other countries. These include those where the number of low level staff has increased but where its growth rate has been slower than that of middle level staff.

The general picture one draws from this is that the majority of the countries concerned have concentrated on increasing the number of middle level staff mainly at the cost of increasing the number of low level field staff: As a result only very few countries could favourably measure against the standard LL:ML ratio (5:1) in 1979 while the ML:HL ratio in many of them was closer to the standard ratio of 3:1. This indicates that the staffing of animal health services in most of these countries has increasingly become top heavy and has likely affected the quantity of services provided.

- 4.2 Table G shows the size of the cattle population, which was actually served and should, according to the norm, be covered by different categories of staff and veterinary centers respectively. The information in the table, while not exactly comp arable, shows that the staffing composition is top heavy (compared to the GTZ/SEDES norm) in the majority of cases and that middle and low level staff should be increased in number relative to the other categories.
- 4.3 Table H shows the recurrent budget allocation or expenditure per head of cattle population. According to similar norms used by GTZ/SEDES (1977) and Nissen (1982) the six Sahelian countries should spend an average of US\$0.75 US\$0.90 per head of cattle based on 1976 data and at 1976 prices. It can be seen from the above or from Table H that only Niger, Mauritania and Senegal reach that level of financing, although the current dollar expenditures per head have increased for all six countries between 1970 and 1979. The increased expenditure per head is only partly caused by the decline in the cattle population as a result of the 1972–73 drought, since the overall rate of increase in expenditure per head is much higher than that of the decrease in the cattle population, particularly between 1970 and 1975.

As mentioned earlier, the figure for Ivory Coast looks exceptionally high and needs further investigation. Again it is interesting to note that the total animal health staff in Ivory Coast was equal in number to those of Senegal although the cattle population in Senegal was about 4 times that of Ivory Coast.

- 4.4 Table J shows the changes in the coefficient of efficiency (CE ratio)<sup>7</sup> for 9–10 years. The CE ratios differ greatly for the different countries. Although not a totally adequate expression of comparative efficiency (e.g. Mauritania may appear to look more efficient than, say, Mali or Niger because of a much smaller number of staff given the area and the livestock population), it is important to note that except in Sierra Leone, there has been a constant decline for all the countries listed. This deterioration should be of serious concern to governments and it would be interesting to find out if there is any specific policy or procedure in Sierra Leone to maintain the effectiveness of animal health personnel.
- 7. The CE ratio is calculated by dividing the non-staff expenditure by the staff expenditure in order to determine the degree to which animal health staff are supplied with vaccines or drugs, means of transportation and veterinary field equipment to facilitate their operation in the field.

Both GTZ/SEDES and IEMVT consider a ratio of 1 or very close to 1 as a measure of an efficient operation.

Staff and non-staff cost estimates have been calculated (GTZ/SEDES 1977) using the standards and assumptions mentioned earlier in this section. According to the results arrived at from these calculations, the average CE ratio for the six Sahelian countries (Chad, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Senegal and Upper Volta) works out at around 1.1 with a range of 0.7 and 3.5. A comparison of these figures with those depicting the situation in the 1970's (Table J) makes it clear that the CE ratio was far below this level in almost all the countries listed in the table. There will therefore be a lot of effort required on the part of these countries in the first instance in reversing the deteriorating non-staff expenditure situation.

It is also important not only that increasing funds are made available to animal health. services. but also that a policy of keeping an appropriate balance between personnel and non-personnel expenditure is subsequently maintained.

The adequacy of animal health services is not only a function of the availability of adequate manpower and funds. It is also a function of the management of the resources made available. It is outside the immediate scope of this paper to deal with the organization and management issues relating to the provision of livestock services. However, things like organizational structure, staff motivation procedures, disease reporting systems, and the control of livestock movements are important elements which need to be looked into, even if retrospectively at the initial stage, as this paper tried to do in the area of financing animal health services in some African countries.

# 5. Conclusion

- 5.1 It is obvious that one cannot generalize too far from the evidence presented for the countries considered in this paper. However, the evidence presented in the earlier sections indicates that:
- animal health services have generally not been funded by national operating budgets to an adequate level, especially considering the important role livestock plays in the economies of several of these countries;
- there are indications that more finance could be made available, if government policy were more favourable toward allocating to the livestock services a higher portion of the revenues already being tapped from the livestock sector;
- the composition of the recurrent budget of animal health services should be cause for concern —staff costs continue to take a disproportionately large portion and this situation, if it continues, will at some stage make field operations almost totally ineffective:
- there was and likely is a high degree of dependence on external financing, particularly for investment expenditure;
- the quantity and quality of services provided in many of these countries have still a considerable way to go before they will attain adequate standards of; controlling animal diseases of economic importance.
- 5.2 The present paper has essentially attempted to give a summary view of the existing situation regarding the financing of animal health services in a restricted number of African countries. The underlying reasons for selecting animal health services at this stage have been explained earlier. Within the area of animal health services itself there is still a need to carry out further studies in several respects. One that seems obvious is extending the geographical coverage of similar studies on the financing of animal health services in other parts of sub-Saharan Africa e.g.— the important livestock countries of eastern and southern Africa.

A second and very important area would be a set of in-depth studies investigating issues that arise from the delivery and use of animal health services and are likely to have a significant relevance to policy—e.g. equity issues, issues related to the economic efficiency of resource allocation. A related study would look into the assessment of alternative managerial or organizational mechanisms of channeling finance and of cost recovery as they affect the cost effectiveness of services—e.g. central government as against parastatals, public versus private veterinary services, the use of livestock owners (groups or individuals) in the delivery of veterinary services etc.

Verification and updating surveys in the countries considered here could be another worthwhile future activity. Its usefulness would, however, have to be judged by the incremental benefit such as exercise would yield in developing hypotheses for testing under the in-depth studies. As is recognized such surveys are costly affairs.

As mentioned in the introduction there are still other livestock services which need to be dealt with in the financing context. AI services are quite widespread, at least in eastern Africa; and the

financing of livestock research in Africa is almost totally untouched, just to give. two examples. The future studies on the financing of these services and the others are likely to combine both a similar type of situation study and in-depth analyses. Whatever priorities we are to attach to the sequence of these studies these definitely will be one or two services to cover besides animal health services.

5.3 Manpower and financial resources will, as usual, remain a big constraint in trying to carry out such studies. Additional constraints are the access to data already available in government files and the indifference of many of us in Africa to the usefulness of such studies. May be the last two constraints are equally important or even more important than the financial constraints facing African researchers and research organizations If this paper has aroused interest in the need to research livestock policy issues in Africa at least among my African colleagues, it would have gone a long way toward achieving one of its important objectives.